
 
 
 

 
City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Standards Committee 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Thursday 22nd February, 2024 

   

Time: 
 

 6.30 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP 

   

Members:  Councillors: 
  Ruth Bush (Chair) 

Md Shansed Chowdhury 
Sara Hassan 
Louise Hyams 
Tim Mitchell 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the 
ground floor reception from 6.00pm.  If you have a disability 
and require any special assistance please contact the 
Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

    
 If you require any further information, please contact the 

Committee Officer, Janis Best, Committee and Councillor 
Support Manager. 
 
Email: jbest@westminster.gov.uk  
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please. 
 
AGENDA 
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  
 
1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 To note any changes to the membership. 
 

 
 
2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

 
3.   MINUTES (Pages 3 - 6) 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 29 November 
2023 as a correct record of proceedings. 
 

 

 
4.   BIENNIAL STANDARDS COMMITTEE REPORT (Pages 7 - 26) 

 Report of the Executive Director of Democracy, Law and People 
 

 
 
5.   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
(Pages 27 - 32) 

 
6.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS  
 
 
Stuart Love  
Chief Executive 
14 February 2024 
 



 
1 

 

 

 
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 

 
 

MINUTES 
 
 

Standards Committee  
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Standards Committee held on Wednesday 29th 
November 2023, Room 18.01, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP. 
 
Members Present: Councillors Ruth Bush (Chair), Md Shamsed Chowdhury, Sara 
Hassan, Louise Hyams and Tim Mitchell 
 
Also Present:  
 
Councillor Adam Hug (Leader of the Council) 
Asif Iqbal (Independent Person) 
 
 
1 MEMBERSHIP 
 
1.1 There were no changes to the membership. 

 
 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
2.1  There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
3 MINUTES 
 
3.1  RESOLVED:  
 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2023 be signed by the Chair 
as a correct record of the proceedings. 

 
3.2 The Committee was informed that following the recent Member drop-in 

session held on Personal Safety, a further session would be scheduled for 
next year. Members were also pleased to learn that the Chief Executive and 
Director of Law and Governance would be holding a briefing with the 
Executive Leadership Team to discuss the Member/Officer Protocol. 

 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
2 

 

4 ANNUAL Q&A WITH THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL ON ETHICAL 
STANDARDS 

 
4.1  As part of its efforts to raise the profile of standards the Committee had 

agreed to invite the Leader of the Council to attend one of its meetings each 
year to answer questions on ethical standards.  

 
4.2  The Chair welcomed Councillor Adam Hug, Leader of the Council, to the 

meeting. Committee members were invited to submit questions to Councillor 
Hug on a range of ethical standards matters and the following areas were 
covered: 

 
• Conduct at Council Meetings - The Committee discussed with the Leader 

conduct at Council meetings. Whilst it was recognised that it was important 
for robust debate to take part at these meetings it was essential these 
debates remained respectful, constructive, and accessible to residents. 
Concerns had been raised in the past and a best practice comparison was 
undertaken with the code of conducts and standing orders at comparable 
local authorities. Following this research Westminster’s code of conduct 
was found to be appropriate and clear about the standards of behaviour 
expected from Councillors at meetings of the Council. The Committee 
commented that at the next meeting of the Standards Committee it would 
receive its Biennial Report and requested that the Nolan Principles, which 
were the basis of the ethical standards expected of public office holders, 
be embedded within it. 

 
• Member Personal Safety – Members were pleased to note that the 

Council, and in particular the Standards Committee, had ensured 
measures were in place to support Councillors in maintaining their 
personal safety and to help provide support and advice to them where 
necessary. The Committee discussed these measures which included:  

  
i) Introducing a Westminster specific Safety Protocol for Councillors 

which had been circulated to all Members and was also available on 
the Members Hub. 

ii) A Councillor Personal Safety training session had been held with an 
external trainer.  

iii) A drop-in session for Members to discuss personal safety experiences 
and provide advice had been organised.  

iv) The LGA guidance on safety for Councillors had also been circulated 
and in addition extracts from this guidance which provided an overview 
of the advice had been provided to all Members.  

 
• Councillor Training - Extensive member code of conduct training had been 

undertaken and held in various formats including in-person groups, 
smaller hybrid group sessions and on a 1:1 basis (hybrid and in person). 
For regulatory committees such as Planning and Licensing, training was 
mandatory in order to sit on these committees, and this had been 
completed by all those Councillors as necessary. In order to encourage 
attendance training was, where possible, held in a hybrid fashion where 
Members could attend in person or remotely. Training was also held on an 

Page 4



 
3 

 

evening in order to capture those Members who worked. Members were 
encouraged to forward on any ideas for future training sessions, 
especially on topics they thought Councillors would be interested in. 

 
4.3  The Chair thanked the Leader of the Council for attending the meeting. 

Councillor Hug thanked the Committee for all their work which he considered 
to be very important. 

 
 
5 ANNUAL UPDATE ON MEMBER COMPLAINTS 
 
5.1  The Monitoring Officer introduced the annual report which provided details of 

complaints recently submitted against members of the Council. It was 
confirmed that three complaints had been received. The Committee was 
provided with an overview of the nature of the complaints, and it was 
confirmed that none of these had been referred to the Standards Committee 
for a hearing.  

 
5.2 Members were pleased with the code of conduct training provided and 

discussed options for future training. This included continuing to ensure a 
record was kept of those Councillors who had attended the code of conduct 
training. In addition, the Committee also discussed holding a specific session 
on equality and diversity to include elements on antisemitism and people with 
additional needs.  

 
5.3  RESOLVED:  
 

That the outcomes of the Members complaints referred to in the report be 
noted. 

 
 
6 WORK PROGRAMME 
 
6.1  The Committee noted the 2023-24 Work Programme. 
 
 
7 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
7.1 The Committee was informed that the process of recruiting an Independent 

Person to the Standards Committee had commenced and a copy of the advert 
would be circulated to the Committee. 

 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 7.31pm. 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Standards Committee 
 
 

Date: 
 

22 February 2024 
 

Classification: 
 

For General Release 
 

Title: 
 

Introductory Report - Biennial Standards 
Committee Report  
(March 2022-March 2024) 
 

Report of: 
 

Executive Director of Democracy, Law and 
People 
 

Wards Involved: 
 

Not applicable 

Financial Summary:  
 

There are no financial implications 

  
Report Author and Contact 
Details: 
 

Tristan Fieldsend, Senior Committee and 
Councillor Co-Ordinator 
Email: tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 It is considered best practice for Council to receive an annual or a biennial 

report in relation to standards.  The provision of such a report highlights the 
importance the Council places on the profile of ethical standards across the 
organisation and affords the opportunity to highlight areas of good practice 
and identify any requirements for improvement. 

 
1.2 The Standards Committee Biennial report, which is the substantial report 

being considered is attached at Appendix 1 to this introductory report. The 
Biennial report sets out the work undertaken by the Committee and what it 
has achieved over the last two years. 

 
 
2.  Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Standards Committee consider and comment on the draft Biennial 

report attached as Appendix 1.   
 
2.2 That the Standards Committee recommend the Biennial report to full Council 

for discussion and noting. 
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

mailto:tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk


 
 
3. Background Information 
 
3.1 The Standards Committee agreed at a meeting on 11 July 2019 to produce a 

biennial report to publicise all the work it has undertaken in relation to ethical 
standards. The committee meets three times per year and therefore a biennial 
report was considered most appropriate.  

 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The principal statutory provisions relating to standards of conduct for 

Members are contained in the Localism Act 2011. Section 27(1) of the 2011 
Act provides that the Council must promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by Members and Co-opted Members of the authority. 

 
4.2 Sections 27 and 28 of the Localism Act require the Council to adopt a Code of 

Conduct consistent with the Nolan principles of good governance and to 
appoint at least one Independent Person whose views must be sought and 
taken into account before the Council makes any decision about an alleged 
breach of the Code that has been investigated. 

 
 
5. Other Implications 
 
5.1 None. 
 
 
 

 
If you have any questions about this report, please contact  

Tristan Fieldsend 
Email: tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1972 

BACKGROUND PAPERS – None 
 

Appendix 1: Biennial Standards Report – March 2022- March 2024 
 

 

Page 8



   

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BIENNIAL STANDARDS COMMITTEE REPORT  
(MARCH 2022 TO MARCH 2024) 

Page 9



   

Contents 
 

 Introduction 
 

1. The Nolan Principles 
 
 
2. Achievements over the previous two years 
 
 

 

3. What we did and the outcomes 
 
 

 

4. Monitoring Officer/Support to the Committee 
 
 

 

5. Independent Persons 
 
 

 

6. Meetings 
 
 

 

7. Terms of Reference 
 
 

 

8. Membership of the Committee 
 
 

 

9. The year ahead  
 
 

 

  

 
This is the third Biennial report of the Standards 
Committee.  
 
 
The document starts by setting out the key achievements 
of the Committee over the past two years.  
 
It goes on to explain what the Committee considered at 
each meeting and the outcomes from them.  
 
It then highlights the support provided to the committee 
and the Monitoring Officer by the Councils’ Independent 
Persons.  
 
It concludes by highlighting identified priority areas of 
work for the year ahead.  
 

 

P
age 10



 
 

 
The Nolan Principles 

 
  

 
The Council’s ethical framework is underpinned by the Seven Principles of Public Life also called the Nolan Principles that apply to 
anyone who is a public office holder. These Principles are as follows:  
 
 
➢ Selflessness - By ensuring that officers and members work together for the public benefit.  

 
➢ Integrity - By avoiding inappropriate influence on officers’ activities and the delivery of services.  

 
➢ Objectivity - By ensuring officers act impartially and fairly between political groups and they are not asked or pressured to 

act otherwise by members.  
 
➢ Openness - By ensuring members are aware of their rights to information where information is confidential and should not 

be shared. Ensuring Officers respect members’ rights and understand their limits, especially where personal information is 
involved.  

 
➢ Honesty - Holders of public office should be truthful.  

 
➢ Accountability - Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and must submit 

themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this.  
 
➢ Leadership - By treating others with respect and actively supporting the Nolan Principles in practice.

P
age 11



   
Key Achievements of the Committee during the period 

March 2022 to March 2024 
 

 The committee had a busy work programme covering routine or regular items. This section set out the Committee’s 
achievements over and above its regular work. 

 

➢ We produced the second Biennial Standards Committee report highlighting the importance the Council places 
on the profile of ethical standards across the organisation and providing the opportunity to highlight areas of good 
practice and identify any requirements for improvement. 
 

➢ We reviewed and amended the Member/Officer Protocol to ensure there was a strong, constructive, and 
trusting relationship between Members and Officers as this was essential to the effective and efficient working of the 
Council. We also ensured the Protocol set out the behaviours and treatment that each can expect from the other. 

 

➢ We undertook a review of the City Council’s rules of debate and assessed best practice at other Councils to 
ensure that whilst debate at Council meetings continued to be robust and vigorous it was important to ensure it 
always remained respectful, constructive and open to the public. 

 

➢ To address concerns raised we took a proactive approach to dealing with the personal safety of elected 
members ensuring measures were in place to support Members in maintaining their personal safety and to help 
provide support and advice to them where necessary. 

 

➢ We continued to provide guidance for members on training regarding matters relating to the City Council’s 
Code of Conduct and encouraged attendance by requiring training was, where possible, held in a hybrid fashion 
where Members could attend in person or remotely. 

 

➢ We raised the profile of standards through; 
 

• Taking the Biennial Standards Committee report to Full Council. 
 

• Obtaining a commitment from the Leader of the Council to attend one of our meetings per year for a question 
and answer session on ethical standards. 

  

P
age 12



 
 

  
Meetings - What we did and the Outcomes 

 
7 April 2022 

 
1. Biennial Standards Committee Report 

 
 What did we consider? 
 

 We received the second Biennial Standards Committee Report highlighting the importance the Council places on the profile of 
ethical standards across the organisation and highlighting areas of good practice and identifying any requirements for 
improvement. 

 Outcomes/Achievements 
 

  The report was recommended to and agreed by Full Council, which showed the emphasis the Council placed on the profile of 
ethical standards across the organisation. The report was considered comprehensive and highlighted the extensive and wide-
ranging work the Committee and independent persons had undertaken over the period to ensure the high standards of conduct 
by Members and Co-opted Members of the authority were promoted and maintained. 

 
 

2.       Member/Officer Protocol 
 

 What did we consider? 
 
             Following a Policy and Scrutiny review the Committee was requested to undertake a review of the Member/Officer Protocol. 
 
 Outcomes 
 

We agreed to add the review to our work programme and we discussed and scoped the work to be udertaken. We were 
involved in obtaining feedback from officers on the current protocol and requested feedback on how this could be 
updated/amended. In addition, the views of Members via the party whips was collated and assessed. We also sought to gain 
the views of Members at the code of conduct training which took place shortly after the local election. The importance of the 
Protocol was stressed, and we suggested that, once finalised, the updated Protocol be highlighted prominently for both officers 
and Members. 

 

P
age 13



 
 

15 September 2022 
 

1. Review of the Member/Officer Protocol 
 
 What did we consider? 
 
 We further considered the Protocol and the proposed amendments to it which had been suggested to strengthen the guidance 

on relationships between Officers and Members.  We reviewed the Protocol with the intention of updating it to help support the 
establishment of good working relationships between Members and Officers in their work together and their different but 
complementary roles within the Council. 

  
 Outcome 
 
 We considered the amendments to the protocol and deemed them appropriate in bringing the document up to date, in particular 

we stressed the importance of including the Nolan Principles in the protocol along with a new separate section on bullying. We 
discussed the significance of the protocol and were of the opinion that it should form an important part of the induction process 
for new Members and officers, with refresher training also being made available for existing Members and officers. This would 
form part of the process of ensuring the behaviours and treatment that each can expect from the other was embedded in the 
culture throughout the organisation. We commended the updated Protocol to Council for approval where it was subsequently 
approved.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



 
 

5 December 2022 
 
 

1.       Q&A with the Leader of the Council on Ethical Standards  
 

 What did we consider? 
 
 We heard from the Leader of the Council on Ethical Standards and submitted questions to him on a range of current issues. 
 
 Outcomes 
 

We held our annual discussion with the Leader on ethical standards and covered the following areas:  

Conflict Resolution – With regards to conflict resolution between Councillors it was explained that there was no explicit 
reference to it in the member complaints procedure. However, the Monitoring Officer did have discretion to suggest mediation 
or recommend another informal type of resolution as long as all parties consented. The Committee noted it would often depend 
on the type of complaint, some of which may be considered Group matters and be dealt with by the Whips accordingly.  

Social Media - An online refresher session was held in June 2021 on the Members Code of Conduct with a focus on social 
media. In addition, in May 2022 reference was made to standards and social media in the post-election code of conduct 
sessions held for all Members, these sessions had been well received. The sessions focused on how Councillors could use 
social media to communicate to their residents, how to engage in healthy debate and what to consider when publishing or 
sharing online. 

Councillor Training - All Members attended the member code of conduct training in May 2022, held in various formats including 
in-person groups, smaller hybrid group sessions and on a 1:1 basis (hybrid and in person). For regulatory committees such as 
Planning and Licensing, training was mandatory in order to sit on these committees, and this had been completed by all those 
Councillors as necessary. In order to encourage attendance training was, where possible, held in a hybrid fashion where 
Members could attend in person or remotely. Training was also held on an evening in order to capture those Members who 
worked. Members were encouraged to forward on any ideas for future training sessions, especially on topics they think 
Councillors would be interested in. 

Code of Conduct Update – The Committee discussed with the Leader the use of language at Council meetings. Whilst it was 
recognised that it was important for robust debate to take part at meetings it was essential these debates remained respectful, 
constructive and accessible to residents. In order to ensure best practice comparisons with the code of conducts at comparable 
local authorities and Parliament would be undertaken and if appropriate any relevant changes made. 

P
age 15



 
 

Member/Officer Protocol Review - The Committee was pleased to note the substantial nature of the review and that it was 
carried out effectively, involving consultation with officers and Members through their Whips. It also involved looking at best 
practice from other authorities. The protocol then went through both the Standards Committee and the General Purposes 
Committee where their views were taken into account before going to Full Council where it was unanimously approved. Its 
success would be measured through watching for any trends or patterns in member or officer complaints, judicial challenges, 
queries from auditors or ombudsman queries. If anything in particular was identified these would be reported back to the 
statutory officers’ group and appropriate steps taken to try and resolve any issues arising. The Committee was pleased to learn 
that The Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer, would be leading sessions for both members and officers to emphasise 
and repeat the key messages from the updated protocol. 

 
 
 
2. Member Complaints – Annual Report 
 
 What did we consider? 
 
 We considered a report that summarised details of complaints against members of the council.   
  
 Outcome 
 
 We received and noted the report which provided us with an update on the outcomes of any complaints raised. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 16



 
 

 
 

20 April 2023 
 

1. Debate at Full Council 
 
 What did we consider? 
 

We considered the Council’s current Procedure Rules regarding debate at meetings in addition to the Member Code of 
Conduct. Work was also undertaken to assess best practice at other local authorities. This was all carried to ensure the 
following standards of conduct/behaviour expected by Members: 
• To value and respect colleagues, staff, partners and the public, engaging with them in an appropriate manner that 

underpins the mutual respect between them that is essential to good local government, and not to act in a manner that 
could be deemed to be bullying, harassment or intimidation.  

• To promote and support high standards of conduct through leadership and by example, including not acting in a manner 
which could be seen to bring the Council or the role of the Councillor into disrepute. 

    
 Outcome 
 
 Following discussions with the Whips of both parties and assessment of best practice from other local authorities, it was felt 

that the present Council Procedure Rules and the code of conduct set out in the constitution adequately set out that debate at 
Council meetings remains respectful at all times and offers an appropriate balance to ensure the effective conduct of 
meetings. The Committee stressed though, that the Council’s constitution can only ever set out a framework for general 
behaviour. Much relies upon the conduct of individual members and the chair of the meeting for setting an appropriate tone 
and an atmosphere conducive to debate. However, it remained good practice to undertake periodic reviews on areas such as 
debate at Full Council in order to ensure that any improvements identified can be recommended for the Council’s 
consideration. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 17



 
 

 
 

2. Harassment and Intimidation of Councillors 
 
 What did we consider? 
 
           The Committee discussed the harassment and intimidation of Councillors and expressed concern that Councillors were facing 

increasing levels of abuse and intimidation. It was recognised that rights to object and constructive challenge were both key 
components of democracy, but abuse and intimidation of Councillors was unacceptable. Members considered what reporting 
processes were currently in place at the Council for Councillors if they did experience any intimidatory behaviour from a 
member of the public and what steps would be taken.  

 
 Outcome 
 

Following a detailed discussion Members agreed that following a review of best practice at other local authorities’ explicit 
reference should be made in the Members Code of Conduct to state that Councillors should expect respectful behaviour from 
the public and that if they did have any concerns these should be reported. The Committee requested that at its next meeting a 
Westminster specific document be circulated providing practical advice for Councillors on what steps they can take if 
experiencing any threatening/intimidatory behaviour.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 18



 
 

 
 
 
 

13 July 2023 
 
 
1. Safety Protocol for Councillors  

 
 What did we consider? 
 
 The Committee received a report which provided an update on the steps taken to ensure the Council had measures in place to 

support Councillors in maintaining their personal safety and help provide support and advice to Councillors where necessary. 
 
 Outcome 
 
           Members were pleased to note the measures that had been put in place to assist Councillors with their personal safety and in 

particular welcomed the introduction of a Westminster specific Safety Protocol for Councillors. It was felt that the document was 
clear and concise and would be of particular use to new Members. The Committee requested that some of the wording of the 
Protocol be amended slightly to specify that the Monitoring Officer should be the main point of contact if any Councillors had 
concerns. To raise the profile of the Protocol and make Members aware of the updates the Committee suggested a link to it be 
circulated to all Members.  

 
           To provide further advice to Members the Committee requested that extracts from the LGA guidance on safety for Councillors 

be circulated as this would complement the personal safety training session planned for later in the year. The Director of Law 
and Governance also confirmed that she would be holding drop-in sessions for Councillors where they could attend to discuss 
any experiences they’ve had. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 19



 
 

 
 
 

29 November 2023 
 
 

1.       Q&A with the Leader of the Council on Ethical Standards  
 

 What did we consider? 
 
 We heard from the Leader of the Council on Ethical Standards and submitted questions to him on a range of current issues. 
 
 Outcomes 
 
            The Chair welcomed Councillor Adam Hug, Leader of the Council, to the meeting. Committee members were invited to submit 

questions to Councillor Hug on a range of ethical standards matters and the following areas were covered: 
 

• Conduct at Council Meetings - The Committee discussed with the Leader conduct at Council meetings. Whilst it was 
recognised that it was important for robust debate to take part at these meetings it was essential these debates remained 
respectful, constructive, and accessible to residents. Concerns had been raised in the past and a best practice comparison 
was undertaken with the code of conducts and standing orders at comparable local authorities. Following this research 
Westminster’s code of conduct was found to be appropriate and clear about the standards of behaviour expected from 
Councillors at meetings of the Council. The Committee commented that at the next meeting of the Standards Committee it 
would receive its Biennial Report and requested that the Nolan Principles, which were the basis of the ethical standards 
expected of public office holders, be embedded within it. 

 
• Member Personal Safety – Members were pleased to note that the Council, and in particular the Standards Committee, had 

ensured measures were in place to support Councillors in maintaining their personal safety and to help provide support and 
advice to them where necessary. The Committee discussed these measures which included:  

  
i) Introducing a Westminster specific Safety Protocol for Councillors which had been circulated to all Members and was 

also available on the Members Hub. 
ii) A Councillor Personal Safety training session had been held with an external trainer.  
iii) A drop-in session for Members to discuss personal safety experiences and provide advice had been organised.  
iv) The LGA guidance on safety for Councillors had also been circulated and in addition extracts from this guidance which 

provided an overview of the advice had been provided to all Members.  
 

P
age 20



 
 

• Councillor Training - Extensive member code of conduct training had been undertaken and held in various formats 
including in-person groups, smaller hybrid group sessions and on a 1:1 basis (hybrid and in person). For regulatory 
committees such as Planning and Licensing, training was mandatory in order to sit on these committees, and this had been 
completed by all those Councillors as necessary. In order to encourage attendance training was, where possible, held in a 
hybrid fashion where Members could attend in person or remotely. Training was also held on an evening in order to capture 
those Members who worked. Members were encouraged to forward on any ideas for future training sessions, especially on 
topics they thought Councillors would be interested in. 

 

 
 

 
2. Annual Update on Member Complaints  

 
 What did we consider? 
 
 We considered a report that summarised details of complaints against members of the council.   
 
 Outcome 
 
           We received and noted the report which provided us with an update on the outcomes of any complaints raised. 
 
           We were also pleased with the code of conduct training provided and discussed options for future training. This included 

continuing to ensure a record was kept of those Councillors who had attended the code of conduct training, and it was 
suggested that the next session contain an element on equality and diversity.  

 
  

P
age 21



   
Monitoring Officer/Support to the Committee 

 

  

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is Parveen Akhtar.  The Monitoring
Officer is a statutory position under the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 and the role is to:

• Support the Standards Committee and the Independent Persons;

• Contribute to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of conduct 
within the Council;

• Maintain systems and processes for dealing with allegations of breaches of 
the Councillor Code of Conduct;

• Investigate, or appoint someone to investigate, allegations of breaches of the 
Councillor Code of Conduct and report these, where relevant to the Standards 
Sub-Committee;

• Maintain the Councillors’ Register of Interests;

• Act as a point of contact for advice and/or queries raised by Councillors;

• Organise training for Councillors on conduct-related and decision making 
matters;

• Maintain, reviewing and updates the Constitution for approval by full Council;

• Advise on various issues, including legality, administrative and governance 
matters; 

• Keep under review various governance-related policies, such Gifts and 
Hospitality, Conflicts of Interest and Whistleblowing; 

• Consider and may investigate whistleblowing concerns.

Further support to the Committee is provided by Tristan Fieldsend, Committee and 
Councillor Liaison.

P
age 22



 
 

Independent Persons (IP) 
 

 
Principle role  
 
The principal role of the IP is to give an independent view on governance issues in general and specifically in relation to  
alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct for Members.  The Council’s IP’s work closely with the Monitoring Officer and her  
deputies, considering all complaints and whether an alleged breach of the Code meets the criteria for investigation. 
 
Consultation  
 
It is also a statutory requirement to consult the IP before deciding on the outcome of an investigation into a complaint and whether to impose any sanction.  The 
Member complained about may also, at any stage of the process, seek a view from the IP. By law, the council must appoint at least one IP. In order to avoid any 
conflict of interest the council has always appointed two IP’s and recently has increased this to three to provide cover in the event of leave or resignation.  
 
Our Independent Persons 
 
During the period which this report covers Elizabeth Walters stepped down as an IP, a position she had served on between September 2019 until August 2023. 
The Standards Committee has previously expressed its gratitude for her service to the Council.  The current Independent Persons are Asif Iqbal and Shajad 
Hussain who were appointed in September 2019. 
 
As required by law the Council’s Independent Persons are appointed by the full Council following a recommendation from the General Purposes Committee who 
have responsilibilty for overseeing the recruitment process including holding interviews with applicants. 
 
Expertise and Knowledge 
 
The Council’s IPs come from varied professional backgrounds which bring a breadth of knowledge and experience relating to  
ethical standards.  Although not members they regularly attend meetings and play an important role in providing independent  
perspective on ethical standards.  All of the IPs have attended the Council’s mandatory training for members on the Members’  
Code of Conduct and have additionally received bespoke training from the Monitoring Officer regarding their responsibilities  
and duties.  To obtain a better understanding of Members’ roles, the IPs have been encouraged to attend some of the Council’s  
other formal meetings particularly the meeting of Full Council. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 23



 
 

 
Meetings 

 
 
The Standards Committee normally meets three times per annum. Over the period that the report covers the Committee met on:   
7 April 2022, 15 September 2022, 5 December 2022, 20 April 2023, 13 July 2023 and 29 November 2023. 
 

Terms of Reference 
 

The Standards Committee has oversight of the conduct and probity of Councillors.  It’s responsibilities are set out in 
Chapter 5 – Committees, Section 26 of the Council’s Constitution as follows: 
 
• To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the Members and Co-opted Members of the City Council. 

 
• To advise the City Council on the adoption or revision of a Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
• Advising, training or arranging to train Members and Co-opted Members on matters relating to the City Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
• To assist Members and Co-opted Members observe the City Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
• To monitor the operation of Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
• Consider reports referred to the Committee by ethical standards officers or the Monitoring Officer of investigations into alleged breaches of the City 

Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 
 

• Where necessary, to conduct hearings into allegations of breaches of the said code, and interview officers, Members and others as required. 
 

• Determining whether allegations of breaches of the said code are made out and determining what action, if any, to take in relation hereto including, where it 
is determined that a breach has occurred, deciding what sanctions, if any, should be applied in relation to the Member or Member concerned (and for the 
avoidance of doubt, the Committee shall only have power to impose any sanction authorised by law). 
 

• Consider any complaints in respect of Members referred to the Committee under the City Council’s “Whistleblowing” procedure and determining the action 
to be taken, if any. 
 

• To the extent allowed by the Law, granting dispensations in relation to Member and co-opted Member interests as referred to in the Members Code of 
Conduct. 
 

• To consider, advise and, if appropriate, take action upon other Member conduct issues not otherwise dealt with under these terms of reference. 
 
 

P
age 24



 
 

Membership of the Committee 
 
The Committee’s membership is formed of the following five members.   
 
 
              Councillor Ruth Bush (Chair) 

 

Councillor Md Shamsed Chowdhury                Councillor  Sara Hassan 

                                                                            
 

 
 
 
 
                               Councillor Louise Hyams 

 
 
 

                        
 
 
                                                 Councillor Tim Mitchell 

                                                                          

            
 

 

P
age 25



 
 

 
 
 

The Year Ahead 
 

 
The Committee has a number of standing items which it considers during the course of the year. Other items are programmed in response to consultation on 
regulatory changes or in response to ethical standards issues that arise which require consideration and possible changes to the council’s constitution. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Annual Update on Member Complaints 
 
To receive an Annual report setting out, in summary, details of complaints against Members of the Council, since the last report to the 
Committee in November 2023. 

 
 
 
 

Annual Code of Conduct Review

To receive an annual report reviewing the Code of Conduct.

Annual Q&A with the Leader of the Council on Ethical Standards

To discuss with the Leader of the Council topics relating to the Ethical standards of Members.

P
age 26



 

 

 
Standards Committee  
 
 

Date: 
 

22 February 2024 
 

Classification: 
 

For General Release 
 

Title: 
 

Work Programme 2024-2025 
 

Report of: 
 

Executive Director of Democracy, Law and 
People 
 

Financial Summary:  
 

There are no financial implications arising from 
this report. 
 

Report Author and 
Contact Details: 

 

Tristan Fieldsend, Senior Committee and 
Councillor Co-ordinator 
Email: tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Executive Summary 

 
1.1 Members are asked to review the proposed work programme for 2024-2025 set out 

as Appendix 2 to the report and identify any other items it wishes to include on it. 
 
 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That, having regard to the Committee’s Terms of Reference attached as Appendix 1 
of this report the Committee indicate any further items it wishes to be added to its 
future Work Programme. 

 
 

3.        Background Information 
 

3.1 The production of a work programme is to enable the Committee to review and 
update its forthcoming work plan at each of its meetings.   

 
3.2 In order to ensure the Committee undertakes its work programme three meetings per 

annum have been programmed. 
 

3.3 As part of its work programme an annual review of the code of conduct has been 
undertaken on an ongoing basis throughout the year as part of the wider review of 
the constitution. The review established that the code of conduct was fit for purpose, 
effective and followed best practice in local government. In addition, the Committee 
also undertook a thorough review of Member Personal Safety and debate at Full 
Council which involved assessing the Council’ code of conduct in comparison to 
comparable local authorities. Following this review the Committee agreed that explicit 
reference should be made in the Members code of conduct to state that Councillors 
should expect respectful behaviour from the public.  

Page 27

Agenda Item 5

mailto:tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk


 

 
3.4 As best practice the code of conduct will continue to be kept under review on an 

ongoing basis. All councillors have attended training sessions on the code of conduct 
and refresher sessions will continue to be held annually. 

 
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications. 
 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1      There are no legal implications arising from this report. 
 
 
 
 
 

If you have any questions about this report, or wish to inspect one of 
the background papers, please contact:  

Tristan Fieldsend, Senior Committee and Councillor Co-ordinator 
tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers:  None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 28

mailto:tfieldsend@westminster.gov.uk


STANDARDS COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

CONSTITUTION 
 
5 Members of the Council, 3 Majority Party Members and 2 Minority Party Member. 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
(1) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by the Members and Co-

opted Members of the City Council. 
 
(2) To advise the City Council on the adoption or revision of a Code of Conduct for 

Members. 
 
(3) Advising, training or arranging to train Members and Co-opted Members on 

matters relating to the City Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
(4) To assist Members and Co-opted Members observe the City Council’s Code of 

Conduct for Members. 
 
(5) To monitor the operation of Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
(6) Consider reports referred to the Committee by ethical standards officers or the 

Monitoring Officer of investigations into alleged breaches of the City Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members. 

 
(7)      Where necessary, to conduct hearings into allegations of breaches of the said 

code, and interview officers, Members and others as required. 
 
(8) Determining whether allegations of breaches of the said code are made out and 

determining what action, if any, to take in relation hereto including, where it is 
determined that a breach has occurred, deciding what sanctions, if any, should 
be applied in relation to the Member or Member concerned (and for the 
avoidance of doubt, the Committee shall only have power to impose any sanction 
authorised by law). 

 
(9) Consider any complaints in respect of Members referred to the Committee under 

the City Council’s “Whistleblowing” procedure and determining the action to be 
taken, if any. 

 
(10) To the extent allowed by the Law, granting dispensations in relation to Member 

and co-opted Member interests as referred to in the Members Code of Conduct. 
 
(11)    To consider, advise and, if appropriate, take action upon other Member conduct 

issues not otherwise dealt with under these terms of reference. 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 
11 July 2024 

 
 
 
 

  

 
28 November 2024 

 
Annual Update on 
Member Complaints  
 

To receive a report on complaints against 
members 

Parveen 
Akhtar 

Annual Q&A with the 
Leader of the council 
on Ethical Standards 
 

To submit questions to the Leader of the Council 
on Ethical standards in relation to Members 

 

 
13 February 2024 

 
Annual Code of 
Conduct Review 
 

To receive an annual report reviewing the Code 
of Conduct 

Parveen 
Akhtar 

 

Work Programme 2024/25

Standards Committee

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Biennial Standards Committee Report
	Appendix 1 - Biennial Standards Committee Report 2022-2024

	5 Work Programme
	Standards Appendix 1 - Terms of Reference
	CONSTITUTION
	TERMS OF REFERENCE

	Standards - Appendix 2 - Work Programme 2024-25


